

6.2.2 Community Asset Committees Update

Responsible GM:	Lili Rosic
Author:	Michael Casey

Recommendation(s)

That this update regarding Community Asset Committees within Cardinia Shire be considered and noted as required by Section 47(6) of the Local Government Act 2020.

Attachments

1. Community Asset Committee Governance Manual [6.2.2.1 - 35 pages]

Executive Summary

Council recognises the important role Community Asset Committees hold in our shire. Volunteer members dedicate time and energy for the provision of these facilities to the community, and Council is grateful for their efforts.

This report provides Council with an update on the activities and performance of Community Asset Committees in respect of which the members have been given a delegation.

Background

Council is responsible for numerous community facilities, including recreation reserves, sports stadiums, public halls, open spaces, and nature reserves. To help Council operate these facilities, we partner with community asset committees, previously known as section 86 committees.

Community asset committees directly manage community property and facilities on behalf of Council. Community asset committee members are unpaid volunteers and are often local residents and/or belong to the facility's user groups (such as a sporting club).

Community asset committees are appointed by Cardinia Shire Council and have delegated responsibilities from the Chief Executive Officer of Cardinia Shire Council, in accordance with the Local Government Act 2020. These committees differ from community committees of management, appointed by DELWP (Department of Environment of Land Water and Planning), under the Crown Land Reserves Act, to manage crown land facilities.

This report provides an update on the different types of community asset committees including recreation reserves, halls and Nobelius heritage park and Emerald Museum committees and the different delegated powers for each type of committee.

A Community Asset Committee Governance Manual has been created to support volunteer members with their responsibilities. The manual includes information and templates to help volunteers in their role as part of a community asset committee, ensuring good practice and consistent and effective management of Cardinia Shire Council facilities. The manual outlines the statutory requirements and aids in all areas of governance. Members of Community Asset Committees must, when exercising the powers, functions and duties delegated to them, comply with the requirements included in the Community Asset Committee Governance Manual as updated from time to time.



This report provides an update on the three different categories of community asset committees: recreation reserve, halls, and museum.

Recreation Reserve Community Asset Committees

Council has worked with the 15 Council appointed Recreation Reserve Community Asset Committees on a risk project to review, document and analyse key areas of risk, and improve the way we support committees into the future. As managers of these facilities, the committee members have various obligations to minimise risks to themselves and the public and improve and maintain the areas under their control as outlined in the Instrument of Delegation.

The powers and functions of Committees to manage the respective recreation reserves include the following:

- 1. to enter into contracts for an amount not exceeding \$5,000.
- 2. incur expenditure for a single item for an amount not exceeding \$5,000.
- 3. to provide sporting facilities for the benefit and use of present and future generations of the Shire.
- 4. to do all things necessary or convenient to be done for or in connection with the performance of those functions, duties and powers.

The current Council appointed Recreation Reserve Community Asset Committees include:

- Cardinia Recreation Reserve
- Chandler Recreation Reserve
- Garfield Recreation Reserve
- Gembrook Recreation Reserve
- Huxtable Road Horse Riding Reserve
- Josie Bysouth Recreation Reserve
- Lang Lang Community Recreation Reserve
- Maryknoll Recreation Reserve
- Officer Recreation Reserve
- Pound Road Recreation Reserve
- Rythdale Hall & Recreation Reserve
- Sutherland Park Recreation Reserve
- Worrell Recreation Reserve
- Yannathan Hall & Recreation Reserve
- Yarrabubba Recreation Reserve.

Council conducts routine maintenance and provides Recreation Reserve Community Asset Committees with maintenance grants, workshops to up skill volunteers and access to leadership courses. To further support committees with their work, Council has recently launched the Community Asset Committee portal, as a place for committee members to access important resources, information, and dates.

A new and important resource on the portal is the Community Asset Committee Governance Manual. The manual includes information and templates to help committees in their role as part of a community asset committee to ensure good practices and consistent and effective management of Cardinia Shire Council facilities. The manual also outlines the statutory requirements and aids in all areas of governance.

Officers have been undertaking a project to identify and reduce the risks associated with community asset committees. This project has targeted recreation reserve community asset committees initially, due to the potential risks associated with the maintenance tasks they undertake. Some of the key changes that have been implemented in the risk project include:

• Council is responsible for all reserve surrounds maintenance



- Maintenance to be performed by committees must be conducted by Council approved contractors
- Committee's must collect user fees from all users
- All committee members must complete the online Governance Training

The online Governance Training is provided to all Recreation Reserve Community Asset Committees to ensure members have the skills and knowledge to be able to understand the requirements implemented in the risk project.

Included as part of this risk project, is the allocation of maintenance grants to ensure committees have the resources to engage contractors and are undertaking the required playing field and building maintenance. Committees are required to:

- Hold a meeting to action and implement the governance manual, and adopt the occupational health and safety policy and code of conduct policy
- Provide completed user agreements and maintenance agreements
- Use Council approved contractors for maintenance
- Collect user fees from user groups
- Complete the online training (it can be delivered face-to-face pending restrictions).

Officers are continuing to support committees to ensure compliance.

Council employs a full-time officer (1 EFT) to support the recreation reserve community asset committees including providing training for volunteers and assisting committees in compliance with risk requirements.

Following completion of the risk project with recreation reserves, it will be modified and delivered to support Hall asset committees, and subsequently the Nobelius Heritage Park and Emerald Museum Asset Committee.

Hall Community Asset Committees

In summary, the powers and functions of these Hall committees are to manage the respective Hall, Community Centre or Complex, and for that purpose:

- 1. to enter into contracts for an amount not exceeding \$5,000
- 2. incur expenditure for a single item for an amount not exceeding \$5,000
- 3. to provide community hall facilities for the benefit and use of present and future generations of the Shire
- 4. to do all things necessary or convenient to be done for or in connection with the performance of those functions, duties and powers.

The current Council appointed Hall Community Asset Committees include:

- Bunyip Hall
- Cardinia Hall
- Clematis Hall
- Garfield Hall
- Gembrook Community Centre
- Koo Wee Rup Community Complex
- Lang Lang Memorial Hall
- Lilypond House
- Modella Hall
- Nar Nar Goon North Hall



Council supports Hall committees through the provision of an annual maintenance allocation and access to training and leadership opportunities. Officers are available to support committees in hall hire and committee governance.

Nobelius Heritage Park and Emerald Museum Community Asset Committee

The museum committee has the following delegations:

- 1. to enter into contract for an amount not exceeding \$5,000.
- 2. incur expenditure for a single item for an amount not exceeding \$5,000.
- 3. to provide a park and museum facilities for the benefit and use of present and future generations of the Shire.
- 4. To do all things necessary or convenience to be done for or in connection with the performance of those functions, duties and powers.

Council employs a part time (0.4FTE) Museum officer, reporting to the Manager Environment and Heritage. The objectives of the role are:

- To assist and support the Nobelius Heritage Park and Museum Committee in the daily operations and management of museum collections
- Help promotion of the museum
- Provide leadership as required and impart museum collection and conservation skills to community volunteers within the committee
- Lead the review of the Nobelius Heritage Park and Emerald Museum strategic plan working in collaboration with the committee.

Council supports the museum committee through the provision of annual maintenance allocation.

Policy Implications

This report is an annual requirement and is consistent with both Council policy and the Local Government Act 2020 in relation to the activities and performance of Community Asset Committees in respect of which the members have been given a delegation.

Relevance to Council Plan

1.1 We empower our communities to be healthy, connected and resilient

1.1.1 Plan for, and support the delivery of, accessible health and social services that address critical gaps in provision.

1.1.3 Lead by example in creating an inclusive and welcoming community for all by facilitating community education, capacity building, connection and celebration of our diversity.

2.1 We support the creation of liveable spaces and places

2.1.1 Advocate, plan for and deliver accessible community infrastructure and services that address community need.

2.1.2 Plan and maintain safe, inclusive and connected open spaces, places and active travel routes.

Climate Emergency Consideration

Nil



Consultation/Communication

Officers are in regular communication with all community asset committees. Whether through supporting governance, assisting with questions and queries, or to promote development opportunities, committees are a key stakeholder receiving regular communication from Council.

Through the risk project, recreation reserve community asset committees have been engaged from the outset. An information session was held to outline the project and update committees on what to expect.

Following that, a face-to-face meeting was held with every recreation reserve committee to explain in more detail the stages of the project and answer any questions. The data capturing process was done in part by officers and in part through a consultant, directly with each of the committees.

Recreation reserve committees have been communicated with about the proposed changes to be implemented, and support has been offered to every committee on any aspect of the project.

Financial and Resource Implications

Council provides financial support to each Community Asset Committee to maintain their facilities. For recreation reserve committees, the amount of financial support has recently been increased as part of the implementation of the governance and risk project.

Recreation reserve committee maintenance amounts are used for building and playing field maintenance and are based on the size of the reserve. Council provides committees with 75% of the maintenance costs, committees recover 15% in user fees, and 10% is allocated to the voluntary nature of committees.

All Hall community asset committees are provided with a flat amount to maintain their facilities.

Conclusion

Community Asset Committees are established by Cardinia Shire Council and have delegated responsibilities from the Chief Executive Officer, in accordance with the Local Government Act 2020. Committees are established voluntarily assist Council in the ongoing management and improvement of Council's facilities. This enables the community to participate in activities that provide health and social benefits to the broader community. Council provides financial and officer support for the operation of the 26 current community asset committees for recreation reserves, halls and Nobelius Heritage Park and Emerald Museum.



Cardinia Shire Council

Community Asset Committee Governance Manual

This manual is a reference for all community asset committee members.

July 2021

Prepared by:

Cardinia Shire Council Active & Connected Communities Unit

Published July 2021

© Cardinia Shire Council 2021 ABN: 32 210 906 807 20 Siding Avenue, Officer

PO Box 7, Pakenham Vic 3810 (DX 81006)

Phone: 1300 787 624 Email: mail@cardinia.vic.gov.au Web: <u>cardinia.vic.gov.au</u>

Dear committee members,

Cardinia Shire Council has a huge network of volunteers who give selflessly of their time, expertise, and energy to provide and develop community resources. A large part of this network is involved with managing community facilities, reserves, and halls across our shire.

Council values the important role that community asset committees (previously known as Section 86 Committees of Management) have in assisting Council in the ongoing management and improvement of Council's facilities. As managers of these facilities, you have various obligations to minimise risks to the public and improve and maintain the areas under your control.

To assist you and your committee members, Council has produced this *Community* Asset *Committee Governance Manual*. The manual includes information and templates to help you in your role as part of a community asset committee to ensure good practices and consistent and effective management of Cardinia Shire Council facilities. The manual also outlines the statutory requirements and aids in all areas of governance.

We encourage you to make this manual available to all committee members and have a copy on hand at all meetings.

Because of the varied functions of committees in Cardinia Shire, some sections contained in this manual may not apply to some committees, but you may still find it helpful.

Please do not hesitate to contact Council if you require any assistance or if you have any suggestions for future editions of this manual.

A good relationship with the community is an important part of ensuring that a facility is used, enjoyed, appreciated, and developed by all. Thank you for your efforts on behalf of our community.

Carol Jeffs Chief Executive Officer

Contents

1	Application of manual	6
2	Definitions	7
3	Exercise of powers	7
4	Relationship between Council and committees	
5	Functions and responsibilities	8
6	Committee legislative responsibilities	8
6.1	Local Government Act 2020	
6.2	Conflicts of interest	8
7	Governance and good management practice	9
7.1	Starting a new committee	
7.2	Committee decisions	
7.3	Records management	
7.4	Handing over to a new committee	
7.5	Dealing with public complaints	
7.6	Dealing with the media	
8	Membership	
8.1	Attending meetings	
8.2	Nomination of membership	
8.3	Dealing with resignations	
8.4	New members	
9	Roles and responsibilities	
9.1	The chairperson	
9.2	The secretary	
9.3	The treasurer	
9.4	Committee members who are not office bearers	
9.5	Non-members as office bearers	
9.6	Members conduct	
10	Meeting procedures.	
10.1	Meeting procedures.	
10.1	Quorum	
10.2	Conflicts of interest	
10.3	Keeping good conflict of interest records	
10.4	Voting	
10.5 11		
11 .1	Ordinary meeting	
11.1	Meeting schedule	
	Notice of the meeting	
11.3	Agenda	
11.4	Duties of the chairperson	
11.5	Addressing the meeting.	
11.6	Making decisions/motions	
11.7	Minutes	
12	The annual general meeting (AGM)	
12.1	Notice of AGM	
12.2	Order of business	
12.3	Duties of the secretary	
12.4	Duties of the chairperson/president	
12.5	Duties of the treasurer	
12.6	The election of members and roles	
13	Financial management	
13.1	General financial record keeping	
13.2	Bookkeeping and accounting	
13.3	Bank account	
13.4	Quarterly financial reporting to Council	
13.5	Revenue and spending	20

Cardinia Shire Council

Community Asset Committee Governance Manual

4

	007	~4
13.6	GST	
13.7	Contracts	
13.8	Receiving money	
13.9	Fees	21
13.10	Cardinia Shire Council grants program	22
13.11	Paying money	22
13.12	Honorariums	
13.13	Cash book	
13.14	Bank reconciliation	
13.15	Cash on premises	
13.16	Financial controls	
13.17	Developing a budget	
13.18	Water and sewerage	
13.19	Waste collection	
14	Facility management	
14.1	Power to manage a facility	24
14.2	Allocating and controlling use	24
14.3	Delegation	
14.4	Maintaining the facility	
14.5	Asset management	
14.6	Management documents	
14.0 15		
	Capital works	
16	Facility hire and use	
17	Access and inclusion	20
4.0		~~
18	Insurance	
18.1	Insurance Public liability and risk management	26
18.1 18.2	Insurance Public liability and risk management Liability claim procedures	26 27
18.1	Insurance Public liability and risk management Liability claim procedures After the incident	26 27 28
18.1 18.2	Insurance Public liability and risk management Liability claim procedures After the incident	26 27 28
18.1 18.2 18.3	Insurance Public liability and risk management Liability claim procedures After the incident Third party users of facilities	26 27 28 28
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4	Insurance Public liability and risk management Liability claim procedures After the incident Third party users of facilities Hire agreements and insurance	26 27 28 28 28
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6	Insurance Public liability and risk management Liability claim procedures After the incident Third party users of facilities Hire agreements and insurance Building (property) insurance	26 27 28 28 28 28 29
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 19	Insurance Public liability and risk management Liability claim procedures After the incident Third party users of facilities Hire agreements and insurance Building (property) insurance Exclusions	26 27 28 28 28 29 29
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 19 20	Insurance Public liability and risk management Liability claim procedures After the incident Third party users of facilities Hire agreements and insurance Building (property) insurance Exclusions Risk management	26 27 28 28 28 29 29 29 29
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 19 20 20.1	Insurance	26 27 28 28 28 29 29 29 30
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 19 20 20.1 20.2	Insurance Public liability and risk management Liability claim procedures After the incident Third party users of facilities Hire agreements and insurance Building (property) insurance Exclusions Risk management Public safety and standards Maintaining public safety standards	26 27 28 28 29 29 29 30 30
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 19 20 20.1 20.2 20.3	Insurance Public liability and risk management Liability claim procedures After the incident Third party users of facilities Hire agreements and insurance Building (property) insurance Exclusions Risk management Public safety and standards Maintaining public safety standards Regular inspection	26 27 28 28 29 29 29 30 30 30
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 19 20 20.1 20.2 20.3 20.4	Insurance Public liability and risk management Liability claim procedures After the incident Third party users of facilities Hire agreements and insurance Building (property) insurance Exclusions Risk management Public safety and standards Maintaining public safety standards Regular inspection Maintenance	26 27 28 28 29 29 30 30 30 30
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 19 20 20.1 20.2 20.3 20.4 20.5	Insurance Public liability and risk management Liability claim procedures After the incident Third party users of facilities Hire agreements and insurance Building (property) insurance Exclusions Risk management Public safety and standards Maintaining public safety standards Regular inspection Maintenance Fault or defect reporting	26 27 28 28 29 29 30 30 30 30 30
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 19 20 20.1 20.2 20.3 20.4 20.5 20.6	Insurance Public liability and risk management Liability claim procedures After the incident Third party users of facilities Hire agreements and insurance Building (property) insurance Exclusions Risk management Public safety and standards Maintaining public safety standards Regular inspection Maintenance Fault or defect reporting When public safety standards fail	26 27 28 28 29 29 30 30 30 30 30 31 31
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 19 20 20.1 20.2 20.3 20.4 20.5 20.6 20.7	Insurance Public liability and risk management Liability claim procedures After the incident Third party users of facilities Hire agreements and insurance Building (property) insurance Exclusions Risk management Public safety and standards Maintaining public safety standards Regular inspection Maintenance Fault or defect reporting When public safety standards fail Public safety in new facilities	26 27 28 28 29 29 29 29 30 30 30 30 30 31 31 31
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 19 20 20.1 20.2 20.3 20.4 20.5 20.6 20.7 20.8	Insurance Public liability and risk management Liability claim procedures After the incident Third party users of facilities Hire agreements and insurance Building (property) insurance Exclusions Risk management Public safety and standards Maintaining public safety standards Regular inspection Maintenance Fault or defect reporting When public safety standards fail Public safety in new facilities Emergency diagrams and procedures	26 27 28 28 29 29 30 30 30 30 30 31 31 31 31
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 19 20 20.1 20.2 20.3 20.4 20.5 20.6 20.7	Insurance Public liability and risk management Liability claim procedures After the incident Third party users of facilities Hire agreements and insurance Building (property) insurance Exclusions Risk management Public safety and standards Maintaining public safety standards Regular inspection Maintenance Fault or defect reporting When public safety standards fail Public safety in new facilities	26 27 28 28 29 29 30 30 30 30 30 31 31 31 31
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 19 20 20.1 20.2 20.3 20.4 20.5 20.6 20.7 20.8	Insurance Public liability and risk management Liability claim procedures After the incident Third party users of facilities Hire agreements and insurance Building (property) insurance Exclusions Risk management Public safety and standards Maintaining public safety standards Regular inspection Maintenance Fault or defect reporting When public safety standards fail Public safety in new facilities Emergency diagrams and procedures	26 27 28 28 29 29 30 30 30 30 31 31 31 31 31
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 19 20 20.1 20.2 20.3 20.4 20.5 20.6 20.7 20.8 20.9	Insurance Public liability and risk management Liability claim procedures After the incident Third party users of facilities Hire agreements and insurance Building (property) insurance Exclusions Risk management Public safety and standards Maintaining public safety standards Regular inspection Maintenance Fault or defect reporting When public safety standards fail Public safety in new facilities Emergency diagrams and procedures Security Failure to meet risk management requirements	26 27 28 28 29 29 29 30 30 30 30 31 31 31 31 31 32
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 19 20 20.1 20.2 20.3 20.4 20.5 20.6 20.7 20.8 20.9 20.10 21	Insurance. Public liability and risk management. Liability claim procedures. After the incident. Third party users of facilities	26 27 28 28 29 29 29 30 30 30 30 31 31 31 31 32 32 32
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 19 20 20.1 20.2 20.3 20.4 20.5 20.6 20.7 20.8 20.9 20.10 21 22	Insurance Public liability and risk management. Liability claim procedures. After the incident. Third party users of facilities Hire agreements and insurance. Building (property) insurance Exclusions Risk management. Public safety and standards Maintaining public safety standards. Regular inspection Maintenance Fault or defect reporting When public safety standards fail. Public safety in new facilities Emergency diagrams and procedures Security Failure to meet risk management requirements Event management	26 27 28 29 29 29 30 30 30 30 31 31 31 31 31 32 32 32 32
18.1 18.2 18.3 18.4 18.5 18.6 19 20 20.1 20.2 20.3 20.4 20.5 20.6 20.7 20.8 20.9 20.10 21	Insurance. Public liability and risk management. Liability claim procedures. After the incident. Third party users of facilities	26 27 28 29 29 29 30 30 30 30 31 31 31 31 32 32 32 32 32 34

1 Application of manual

This manual has been adopted by Cardinia Shire Council to support the following committees.

Hall committees

- 1. Bunyip
- 2. Cardinia
- 3. Clematis
- 4. Garfield
- 5. Gembrook Community Centre
- 6. Koo Wee Rup Community Complex
- 7. Lang Lang Memorial
- 8. Lilypond House
- 9. Modella
- 10. Nar Nar Goon North
- 11. Yannathan

Recreation reserve committees

- 12. Cardinia
- 13. Chandler
- 14. Garfield
- 15. Gembrook
- 16. Huxtable Road
- 17. Josie Bysouth
- 18. Lang Lang Community
- 19. Maryknoll
- 20. Mountain Road
- 21. Officer
- 22. Pound Road
- 23. Rythdale Hall & Recreation Reserve
- 24. Sutherland Park
- 25. Worrell
- 26. Yarrabubba

Other

- 27. Bunyip Auditorium
- 28. Nobelius Heritage Park and Emerald Museum

2 Definitions

'Act' – the Local Government Act 2020.

'Community asset committee' – a community asset committee established by a Council under section 65 of the Act.

'Council' - Cardinia Shire Council.

'Facility' - the reserve/property and/or buildings as defined by the instrument of delegation.

'Instrument' – the instrument of delegation, which is the power and authority delegated to a committee by Council to manage the facility.

3 Exercise of powers

The chief executive officer of Cardinia Shire Council may, by instrument of delegation, delegate any power, duty or function of Council to members of a community asset committee.

This means that:

- lawful actions of the community asset committees are in effect actions of Council
- committees are protected by insurance applicable to Council.

Refer to the community asset committee *Instrument of Delegation and Schedule* document for more information.

4 **Relationship between Council and committees**

Council is committed to playing an important role in the ongoing guidance, support, training development and success of committees. Providing up-to-date information to committees, responding to requests and questions are key roles Council can play in ensuring the committee can operate effectively and efficiently.

Cardinia Shire Council contact details:

Phone: 1300 787 624 Email: mail@cardinia.vic.gov.au Postal: PO Box 7, Pakenham, VIC, 3810 Customer Service Centre: 20 Siding Avenue, Officer

5 **Functions and responsibilities**

Key roles and functions required of the committee are, but not limited to:

- 1. control, manage and maintain the land and facilities in an efficient and effective manner, in the best interests of Council, residents and users of the facilities within the boundaries specified in the instrument of delegation
- 2. maintain the highest level of cooperation between Council, the committee, and the local community
- 3. promote interest in the facility
- 4. apply procedures, rules, and conditions of use necessary for the proper management of the facility
- 5. ensure procedures, rules, and conditions of use are consistent with the objectives of the committee stated in the instrument of delegation, these guidelines, and any policies of Council
- 6. report any breaches of rules, conditions of use and local laws, which cannot appropriately be dealt with by the committee, to Council
- 7. convene, or arrange to be convened, meetings, seminars, workshop, forums, and lectures which directly assists the committee attain its objectives
- 8. resolve conflicts where these occur in the requirements of the community using the facility
- 9. ensure compliance with all acts, regulations and other legal requirements at the facility
- 10. not commit, or permit to be committed, any act which will have a negative impact on any of the Council's insurance policies
- 11. ensure the facility is always kept in a clean condition and is used in a reasonable and lawful manner by all groups and individuals.

6 **Committee legislative responsibilities**

6.1 Local Government Act 2020

As a committee established under the provisions of Section 65 of the *Local Government Act 2020* decisions made by the committee are in law decisions of the Council. Therefore, committees must ensure that they consider very carefully the decisions they make. If a committee is in doubt about any matter that they are discussing they should contact their Council Liaison Officer to seek guidance on these matters.

Section 47 of the Act:

A delegation under Section 47 of the Act, to the members of a community asset committee, is to be exercised subject to the terms and conditions specified by the Chief Executive Officer, which include:

- 1. a specified limit on any financial delegation and the specific purpose for which that financial delegation may be used
- 2. compliance with governance requirements to ensure appropriate standards of probity are met
- 3. specific monitoring and reporting of the activities and performance of community asset committees.

A member of a community asset committee to whom a delegation is given under this section of the Act, can only exercise the delegation while acting as a member of the community asset committee at a meeting of the community asset committee.

The Chief Executive Officer must submit an annual report to the Council in relation to the activities and performance of a community asset committee in respect of which the members have been given a delegation under this section of the Act.

6.2 Conflicts of interest

The Local Government Act 2020 defines general and material conflicts of interest.

A general conflict of interest arises if a committee member has an interest in a matter that is being considered by the committee if an impartial, fair-minded person would consider that the member's private interests could result in that person acting in a manner that is contrary to their public duty.

A material conflict of interest arises if a committee member would gain a benefit or suffer a loss depending on the outcome of the matter before the committee.

The Act also provides exemptions for remoteness and interests in common with a substantial proportion of ratepayers along with other specific circumstances.

For further details regarding general or material conflicts of interest refer to Sections 127 and 128 of the *Local Government Act 2020*.

Committee members are required to:

- avoid all situations which may give rise to conflicts of interest
- identify any conflicts of interest, and
- disclose or declare all conflicts of interest.

Committee members may not participate in discussion or decision-making on a matter in which they have a conflict of interest.

When disclosing a conflict of interest, they must clearly state their connection to the matter. All disclosures of conflicts of interest must be recorded in the minutes of a committee meeting.

At the time indicated in the agenda, a committee member with a conflict of interest in an item on that agenda must indicate they have a conflict of interest by clearly stating:

- 1. the item for which they have a conflict of interest
- 2. whether their conflict of interest is general or material
- 3. the circumstances that give rise to the conflict of interest.

Immediately prior to the consideration of the item in which they have a conflict of interest, the committee member must indicate to the meeting the existence of the conflict of interest and leave the meeting.

A committee member who is not present at the designated time in the agenda for disclosures of conflicts of interest, must disclose their conflict of interest in the manner that required for the declarations of conflicts of interest above prior to leaving the meeting.

A committee member who discloses a conflict of interest and leaves the meeting must not communicate with any participants in the meeting while the decision is being made.

7 Governance and good management practice

7.1 Starting a new committee

At its first meeting the committee should elect a chairperson/president. A secretary and treasurer should also be elected, recorded in the minutes (Form 3) and the secretary should inform the Council of these details.

Each committee needs and must have a minimum of 5 committee members which includes:

- a chairperson/president
- a secretary
- a treasurer.

Larger committees may also need a deputy chairperson, assistant secretary and assistant treasurer; smaller committees may combine the secretary and treasurer into one person. It is good practice for the role of chairperson and treasurer to be held by different committee members from an audit viewpoint.

7.2 Committee decisions

Matters being discussed at meetings are usually determined by a majority of votes of the members present. If there is an equality of votes the chairperson may exercise a second or casting vote to resolve the matter.

7.3 Records management

All committee records should be captured as evidence of the decisions, operations and management of the committee.

Please refer to Form 6 for the records management instructions.

7.4 Handing over to a new committee

The existing committee has a responsibility to hand over to the incoming committee; some of these responsibilities include the following:

The outgoing treasurer should:

- prepare a financial report including GST return and have it verified by the incoming committee and Council liaison officer
- provide copies of any business plans and financial reports prepared over the committee's term
- advise the incoming committee of any committed funds
- organise the changeover of bank account details
- advise Council of the incoming committee's contact details, if applicable
- advise service providers (e.g. gas and water) of the incoming committee's contact details
- hand over the books to the incoming committee.

The outgoing secretary should:

- hand over all correspondence, including the minute books and all copies of these guidelines
- provide copies of all management plans or statements, and corresponding performance reports, prepared by the committee over its term
- provide all details to the incoming committee of any contracts (e.g. leases, licenses or any other contracts for services)
- hand over employment details and staff contracts
- notify Council of new officer bearers and committee membership.

The outgoing chairperson should ensure the handover is completed in a timely and professional manner, and that the incoming committee is adequately briefed.

The incoming committee members should familiarise themselves with:

- their responsibilities, both as committee and as individual committee members by reading these guidelines
- the particulars of the facility they have been appointed to manage including, if necessary, reviewing and updating the management plan or management statement.

New committee members are not formally appointed until approved by Council.

7.5 Dealing with public complaints

At some stage, a committee may receive a complaint from a member of the public about something it did or did not do. Remember that the complaint, decisions, actions of the committee in response, and whether the person was satisfied with the outcome should be recorded.

For problems that prove tough to resolve, in the first instance the committee should contact Council.

Committees need to be aware that sometimes members of the public may take their concerns to Council, their Member of Parliament or the Ombudsman if they feel that a committee has not dealt with them adequately.

7.6 Dealing with the media

The committee shall not issue any media releases relating to funding announcements without the approval of Council, or media releases critical of Council. For assistance relating to dealing with the media the committee should contact Council.

8 Membership

Membership of the committee is determined by the instrument of delegation set by Council in consultation with the committee.

Members will be appointed for a period of 3 years (but may be removed by the Council at any time).

Hall committee members and Nobelius Heritage Park and Emerald Museum committee members will be appointed for a period of 2 years (but may be removed by the Council at any time).

A member of the committee shall be eligible for re-election or re-nomination at the expiration of their period of office. A member of the committee may resign their position at any time.

Council has resolved to exempt members of the committee who are not Councillors' from the obligation to submit returns of interest.

8.1 Attending meetings

Committee members are expected to attend all meetings, but illness, family crisis or other genuine reasons may result in absences. The chair, secretary or other office bearer should be contacted to tender apologies, which will be recorded in the minutes (Forms 3 & 4). It is important that apologies are tendered and accepted by the committee. Any member's position on a committee can become vacant if they are absent from 3 consecutive meetings.

8.2 Nomination of membership

Community representatives

On advice from the secretary, Council will call for expressions of interest to appoint community representatives to the committee by giving public notice in a local newspaper not less than 21 days prior to annual general meeting or special meeting convened for the election of a member.

Candidates for appointment must lodge their expression of interest in writing by way of process outlined by the committee.

Eligibility as a candidate includes:

- being over 18 years of age
- are not insolvent (unable to pay debts as they become due and payable)
- have not been convicted of any indictable offence (a serious crime that is tried by a judge)
- have not been convicted of fraud (convicted by a court of obtaining of material advantage by unfair or wrongful means or an intentional dishonest act done with the purpose of deceiving)
- have not committed any other act or omission that might render or be seen to render them unfit for them to be a member of the community asset committee
- nominees to the community asset committee should not have criminal convictions, financial or taxation dealings that might render or be seen to render them unfit foroffice.

Recommendations for appointment

The committee shall accept expressions of interest and nominate preferred members as part of an annual general meeting or special meeting (in accordance with the appointment periods defined in Section 8) and recommend to the Council people for appointment to the committee as a community representative or as a user group representative.

Council must make all formal appointments of members to the committee by way of resolution at an ordinary or special meeting of Council.

Council may in its absolute discretion, decline to appoint to the committee any person who has been nominated or recommended for appointment. In such an event, Council will inform the committee of the reasons for its decision.

8.3 Dealing with resignations

There are two common types of resignations: a resignation of an office bearer who will remain on the committee and a resignation of a member who will leave the committee.

Members who decide to resign and leave the committee should aim to give reasonable notice so that a new member can be recruited, if necessary. The resigning chairperson needs to submit their resignation in writing to the committee. The committee then decides on a replacement chairperson and records its decision.

To resign from any other officer bearer position, but not from the committee, resignation from the position must be submitted in writing to the committee. The committee must accept and record the resignation in the minutes (Form 3). The committee may elect another member to fill that position. Council must approve new representatives.

In all cases, a resigning member must hand over all committee records to the community asset committee.

8.4 New members

The incoming committee members must familiarise themselves with:

- their responsibilities, both as a committee and as individual committee members by reading this governance manual
- the particulars of the facility they have been appointed to manage including, if necessary, reviewing and updating the management plan or management statement.

9 Roles and responsibilities

The committee at each annual general meeting shall elect the following office bearers:

- chairperson (president)
- deputy chairperson (vice president) (optional)
- secretary
- treasurer.

9.1 The chairperson

Every community asset committee must have an appointed member as chairperson. The key responsibility of a chairperson is facilitating the operations of the committee.

The chairperson is the leader of the formal meeting, and as such is responsible for maintaining order, the conduct of business, for ensuring that procedures adopted are correct – and for the whole tone of the meeting.

The main responsibilities are to:

- provide coordination, guidance, and leadership to ensure committee functions successfully
- represent the committee in the public domain
- ensure administrative, and other tasks from meetings are carried out
- chair all meetings of the committee.
- act as the liaison person between the committee and the Council (although this task can be delegated to another committee member)
- arrange for an annual report (Form 7) of the committee to be prepared for presentation at the annual general meeting and to Council.

Specifically, during meetings, the chairperson is responsible for ensuring:

- meetings are correctly convened
- a quorum is present for all decisions
- meeting decisions are properly recorded in the minutes (Forms 3 & 4)
- the agenda is adhered to
- that the motions and amendments are unambiguous and otherwise in order
- all members are given the opportunity to speak
- the maintaining of order
- the business of the meeting is conducted
- voting rights
- a casting vote when necessary
- the announcement of the result of all votes is clear
- the management of discussion and avoid members dominating to the exclusion of others.

In the absence of the chairperson or the deputy chairperson, the committee shall elect another person to chair the meeting.

The chairperson may vote on any motion considered by the meeting and in the event of a tied vote, the chairperson may exercise a second or casting vote.

9.2 The secretary

The secretary is usually responsible for the administration associated with the meeting. Duties of the secretary include:

- arranging the meeting
- preparing and sending out of the agenda (Form 3)
- arranging for inwards and outwards correspondence
- maintaining all records and correspondence
- receiving all incoming correspondence and bringing it to the attention of the committee
- writing and dispatching all outwards correspondence required by the committee
- keeping committee members properly informed by sending them notices of meetings, agendas (Form 3), copies of correspondence, reports, etc, as required
- liaising with the chairperson between meetings so that the business of the committee is attended to and, in consultation with the chairperson, to call extraordinary meetings as required
- preparing the minutes (Forms 3 & 4) of the previous meeting to be available and other relevant documents such as discussion papers
- taking notes that will enable clear and accurate minutes to be written up
- writing up the minutes (Forms 3 & 4)
- carrying out the follow-up action which arises from the business of the meeting, e.g. arranges correspondence
- arranging annual general meetings.

9.3 The treasurer

The treasurer is responsible for keeping the committee's financial records in good order. The treasurer's duties include:

- maintaining a bank account in the name of the committee (signatories to the account should be the chairperson, the secretary, and the treasurer, with at least two to sign)
- recording and banking money received
- paying accounts as authorised by the committee
- keeping all invoices, receipts, cheque butts, bank statements, etc, for audit purposes
- ensuring that accurate records of all transactions are maintained
- assisting the committee in the preparation of the annual budget
- preparing the annual financial report (Form 1) based on financial year (e.g. 1 July 2020–30 June 2021)
- preparing and presenting financial report (Form 1) for committee meetings

- reporting at each committee meeting current details on bank balances, transaction since the previous report, the committee's current financial position and any other information that the committee may require
- arranging the audit of financial statements
- treasurers of community asset committees are required to complete the financial report form
 (Form 1) quarterly/annually and submit it to Council by 10 October, 10 January, 10 April and 10
 July each year.

Please refer to Form 1, and the 'Guide to complete Financial Report' form

9.4 Committee members who are not office bearers

Non-office bearing members' duties include:

- actively participating in committee activities and business
- managing the facility, including preparation and implementation of management plans, financial plans and business plans and subsequent reporting against those plans
- attending all committee meetings and participating in decision making
- bringing to the committee's attention any identified problems or issues.

9.5 Non-members as office bearers

Community asset committee's may find it useful to appoint someone who is not a committee member, but has relevant skills, to undertake tasks such as bookkeeping and secretarial work. In some cases, this will be a volunteer, in other cases the committee may engage a local accountant or bank manager to keep the books and act as the committee's custodian.

9.6 Members conduct

Members of community asset committees are required to act appropriately in their role to ensure public resources are used prudently for the public interest and as representatives of Cardinia Shire Council. This includes, acting in good faith, with integrity, exercising impartiality, treating others with respect, and exercising due care and diligence when conducting their committee role.

Please refer to Code of Conduct form

10 Meeting procedures

The committee shall comply with Council's governance rules other than Chapter 3 (Governance Rules - Cardinia Shire Council) regarding meeting procedures.

10.1 Meeting schedule

Each committee is free to decide meeting times and schedules. committees should be meeting as often as necessary to ensure good management of the facility. Council requires that the committee meet at minimum quarterly on such dates that the chairperson or committee determines.

10.2 Quorum

A quorum is the minimum number of members of the community asset committee who must be present for the committee to make decisions (a majority) (half the membership + 1).

If, 30 minutes (or some other time generally agreed by the committee as appropriate) after the start of the meeting a quorum has not been obtained, the chairperson will decide to:

- postpone the meeting, or
- conduct the scheduled business of the committee but refer all decisions and motions to a subsequent meeting when a quorum is present for reconsideration and/or ratification.

If, at any time during the meeting a quorum cannot be maintained, the chairperson will decide to:

- close the meeting and refer any unfinished business to a subsequent meeting, or
- continue to conduct the scheduled business of the committee, but refer all decisions and motions made with no quorum present to a subsequent meeting when a quorum is present for reconsideration and/or ratification.

Cardinia Shire Council Community Asset Committee Governance Manual

156

10.3 Conflicts of interest

As detailed in Clause 6.2 the *Local Government Act* 2020 defines general and material conflicts of interest.

For example, a local builder on a community asset committee would have a conflict of interest in any building contracts let by the committee for which he or she had tendered.

A conflict could be interest based, e.g., a committee member who is a member of the local football club would have a conflict of interest in a decision to lease part of the facility to the football club.

10.4 Keeping good conflict of interest records

Keeping good public records is crucial for a committee being regarded as open and transparent in managing conflicts of interest.

The committee minutes (Forms 3 & 4) must record how conflicts of interest were handled. For example, a committee member who is a builder declares he has a conflict of interest on the next agenda item, a building contract to be discussed.

The minutes must record:

- what the conflict was
- if the committee member left the room (at what time he left/returned and at what stage of the discussion)
- the result of the discussion and the decision made.

Private interest should not be confused with specialist knowledge, which is not a conflict of interest. For example, a member who is a builder, but who is not tendering for a job, would have useful specialist knowledge.

10.5 Voting

One method of voting is a show of hands. The chairperson calls first for those in favour of a motion and then for those opposed to a motion. The motion is determined by the majority vote and the chairperson then declares the result to the meeting. In the event of a tied vote, the chairperson may exercise a casting vote. Unless otherwise prohibited by the Act, each member of the committee present must vote.

11 Ordinary meeting

11.1 Meeting schedule

A committee can decide its meeting schedule at the start of each year or determine at the end of each meeting when and where the next one will be held. Committees should be meeting as often as necessary to ensure good management of the facility. **Council requires that the committee meet at minimum quarterly on such dates that the chairperson or committee determines.**

A good way to remind committee members about a coming meeting is to circulate the minutes of the last meeting, plus agenda and any other papers, about a week before the meeting date.

Also circulate progress reports on any works being done, maintenance plan/report and risk and safety management report.

11.2 Notice of the meeting

A notice of meeting (Form 5), typically incorporated with the agenda (Form 3), is to be circulated to committee members at least 2 days, and preferably a week before the meeting.

Refer to Form 5- Notice of meeting advert template for annual general meetings

Cardinia Shire Council Community Asset Committee Governance Manual

157

11.3 Agenda

Prior to any meeting an agenda is prepared. The agenda is a short document that sets out the business to be dealt with at the meeting.

Usually the secretary, in consultation with the chairperson, prepares the agenda, but all committee members can nominate items of business to be included on the meeting agenda.

A typical agenda may include:

- details of time and place of meeting (notice of meeting)
- list of all members, and any non-members invited to attend
- apologies
- conflicts of interest (crucial inclusion)
- minutes of the previous meeting
- correspondence inwards
- correspondence outwards
- reports
- secretary's report
- treasurer's report
- maintenance report
- risk and safety
- any OH&S issues
- general business.

Please refer to Form 3 for the agenda template

When circulating the agenda, the minutes of the previous meeting and any reports to be considered at the meeting are usually attached.

At the start of the meeting the chairperson usually asks a) if there are other items of business that any member wishes to be added to the agenda, and b) if any member wishes to change the order of the agenda. The addition of new items at the meeting is generally acceptable, but if those items are contentious and/or some members are absent from the meeting, the chairperson may decide to refer such items to a subsequent meeting of the committee.

11.4 Duties of the chairperson

The chairperson will take the chair at all meetings at which he or she is present.

11.5 Addressing the meeting

For more formally run committees, all committee members addressing the meeting must direct their remarks through the chairperson. A committee member addressing the meeting shall not be interrupted by any other member, except that the chairperson has the right to provide any direction to the member regarding the conduct of that address (appropriate language, length of time taken, etc.).

11.6 Making decisions/motions

Each decision of the committee should be made by a formal vote, even if everyone agrees, and recorded in the minutes (Forms 3 & 4).

Decisions are made by passing motions. Any committee member may move a motion and the chairperson accepts the motion for consideration. This could be as simple as:

- "I move that the Treasurer's report be accepted." Bill Smith
- "I second that motion." Mary Black.

The chairperson says: "All in favour." (counts 6 raised hands) "All against." (counts no raised hands) "The motion is carried."

The minutes (Forms 3 & 4) will record the wording of the motion, who moved it, who seconded it, whether it was CARRIED or LOST.

For example:

MOTION:

"That the treasurer's report be accepted as presented."

BS/MB CARRIED

Committees may have motions that are more complicated and contentious arising from their discussions on how to proceed with a project or manage their facility. In such cases, it may be useful for the motion to be written down and read out or circulated prior to voting so that everyone is clear about what is being decided.

If a vote is tied, the person in the chair has a second or casting vote.

A committee can only make decisions (i.e. move and pass motions) if a quorum of its membership is at the meeting.

Any decision of the committee, which the committee does not have delegated power to implement, cannot be implemented until approved by the Council.

11.7 Minutes

Minutes are a formal, written record of a meeting and must be kept for all meetings of the committee. At a minimum the minutes should record:

- time the meeting started and finished
- location of the meeting
- names of the committee members present
- apologies received
- conflicts of interest declared
- list of all items of business considered
- exact wording of any motions moved, including the name of the mover and seconders, and the mover and seconder of any amendments to the motion
- results of consideration of any motions carried, lost, withdrawn, lapsed, amended
- details of any questions taken on notice
- details of any deputations made to the committee, or any guest speakers.

Refer to Form 3 – General meeting minute template

The minutes should enable a committee member not present at the meeting to be informed of all actions and decisions arising and the reasons for those actions and decisions.

Every page of the minutes should be numbered and bear the date of the meeting.

Minutes are a permanent record of the committee's decisions and proceedings. The secretary should keep a minute book that will be passed on to the incoming secretary at the end of the committee's term. In the longer term, the minute books must be stored and archived in accordance with the *Public Records Act* 1973 because community asset committees are public bodies.

The minutes of a meeting should be endorsed at the following meeting as being a true and accurate record. The motion endorsing the minutes of a previous meeting should only be moved and seconded by members who attended that previous meeting.

On ratification of the previous meeting's minutes, the chairperson should sign the minutes. Once endorsed by the signing of the chairperson, minutes should not be altered.

All meeting minutes need to be submitted to Council within 21 days of the meeting.

12 The annual general meeting (AGM)

The AGM is the public meeting whereat the committee reports to its community. The AGM is to be held between 1 July and 30 October each year.

Hall committee's and Nobelius Heritage and Emerald Museum committee's will hold their AGM biannually. These AGMs are to be held between 1 July and 30 October every 2 years.

Refer to Form 4 – Annual general meeting minute template

12.1 Notice of AGM

The secretary shall notify the key Council liaison officer a minimum of 5 weeks prior to the date of the annual general meeting so Council can advertise the date by way of a notice in the public notices section of the local newspaper circulating in the area for the 3 weeks prior.

Refer to Form 5 - Notice of meeting advert template

Please fill in this template and submit to Council.

12.2 Order of business

The AGM includes:

- receive and confirm the minutes (Form 4) of the previous AGM
- receive an annual report (Form 7) that includes the chairpersons report of the committee's activities, operations, and usage of the facility for the previous 12 months
- receive the treasurers report including the financial report (Form 1) for end of financial year
- receive a proposed budget for the year ahead
- receive an outline of the committee's proposed activities for the next 12 months, which may also include seeking the community's approval of those plans
- election of committee members:
- recommendation to go to Council for appointment. Recommended members remain non-voting until endorsed by Council

Attendees may ask questions of the committee (only in the time set aside in the meeting to do so), but it is not a forum for taking motions from the floor or voting on proposals. These actions can only be undertaken by committee members and any such business should be held over to the next regular meeting.

12.3 Duties of the secretary

Prior to the AGM:

- notify Cardinia Shire Council 5 weeks prior to the date of the meeting including date, time, location and a contact person
- notify Council of any community representative positions up for nomination and advise the process the committee has agreed on for nomination
- distribute information and nomination forms on request
- ensure the annual report (Form 7) is complete and available for inspection at the meeting
- ensure all the necessary equipment is available for the meeting including nomination forms, attendance sheet, whiteboard, etc
- bring all nominations received prior to the meeting
- in conjunction with the chairperson, prepare a meeting agenda (Form 3) for distribution at the meeting

The outgoing secretary should:

- hand over all correspondence, including minute books and all copies of this manual
- provide copies of all management plans or statements, and corresponding performance reports, prepared by the committee over its term
- provide all details to the incoming committee of any contracts (e.g. leases, licenses, or any other contracts for services).

12.4 Duties of the chairperson/president

Prior to the election, the chairperson/president shall:

- state the purpose of the meeting which is to elect recommended candidates to form a community asset committee for a 3-year period commencing on a particular date and annually to elect executive office bearers to the committee for the following 12 months
- clearly identify the facility over which the community asset committee is to be appointed and clearly define the 'community of interest' for those present
- detail the number of committee members being sought
- nominate the committee members who will be responsible for presenting the reports to the meeting, providing a summary, and answer any questions (usually the treasurer presents any financial reports, and the chairperson/president presents any performance or management reports, but any committee member may be nominated)
- describe how the meeting will be conducted, and the process for the election
- hand over to the Council representative present to be the chairperson conducting the election of nominated members.

The chairperson/president will be responsible for ensuring all reporting requirements are submitted/lodged with Council within 21 days of holding the AGM.

The outgoing chairperson should:

• ensure that the handover is completed in a timely and professional manner, and that the incoming committee is adequately briefed.

12.5 Duties of the treasurer

Prior to the AGM:

• ensure the financial report (Form 1) is ready for inspection at the meeting.

The outgoing Treasurer should:

- balance the books and have them audited
- provide copies of any business plans and financial reports prepared over the committees term
- advise the incoming committee of any committed funds
- organise the changeover of bank account signatory details
- advise service providers (e.g. gas, electricity, and water) of the incoming committees contact details
- hand over the books to the incoming committee.

12.6 The election of members and roles

The chairperson or Council representative will declare all positions vacant. Unless the procedures of the committee otherwise provide, voting must be by show of hands.

The duties of the outgoing chairperson, secretary or Council representative are:

- declare positions vacant from the specified date
- list all nominations received prior to the meeting for the relevant committee positions
- call for additional nominations (if applicable) for the relevant committee positions
- verify the eligibility of all nominations
- after a reasonable interval, declare nominations closed
- if the number of candidates is less than the number of vacancies, declare all candidates as the successful recommended candidates

- if the number of candidates exceeds the number of vacancies, announce that an election will be held and give details on how it will be conducted. For example, each eligible voter can only cast one vote for one candidate
- check all people wishing to vote are eligible and have signed the attendance sheet.

NOTE: New committee members are not formally appointed until endorsed by Cardinia Shire Council and cannot conduct committee business until endorsed.

If an ordinary meeting with the new committee follows the AGM, then the newly recommended members cannot vote as part of the meeting as they are not official members of the committee until endorsed by Council. This is also relevant for any meeting held until Council endorses membership.

The names, contact details, and position held within the committee, for all new members should be recorded and emailed to your key Council liaison officer for endorsement at a Council meeting.

13 Financial management

Keeping track of financial records is a key task of the committee. It is essential for keeping Council, the community and user groups informed about the financial sustainability of the facility.

The committee's financial year commences 1 July each year and ends 30 June the following year.

The committee will ensure financial decisions do not affect the integrity of Council's budget.

13.1 General financial record keeping

To ensure financial reports are proper and complete (Form 1), committees are urged to maintain suitable records. The Australian Taxations Office (ATO) provides a good resource to assist:

• How to keep your business records (NAT 3029).

Other resources are available at the not-for-profit support website: www.ourcommunity.com.au

13.2 Bookkeeping and accounting

Methodical bookkeeping is essential to good financial management. If the books are properly kept then there is a clear record of all receipts and payments and of the funds available to the committee.

Money received should be banked regularly – at least weekly – and all payments and receipts must be recorded promptly.

13.3 Bank account

The committee will open and operate a bank account entitled as per the name of the committee.

13.4 Quarterly financial reporting to Council

Quarterly reports to Council must include:

- Financial report (Form 1)
- Bank statements
- Updated asset register (Form 2)
- Updated volunteer register (Form 1)

13.5 Revenue and spending

Revenue received by a committee must be directed to activities associated with the facility. From funds received, the committee may pay the cost of maintenance, electricity and gas usage, and water charges, as the committee determines.

Committees are not required to spend all revenue in the year it is received, and it is wise to carry forward some funds into the next year. It is also acceptable if a committee has planned for a large development in the next few years to accumulate the funds required for it (e.g. major renovations). Expenditure will be limited to improvements on the facility and by the instrument of delegation.

Committees should not carry excessive funds for no foreseeable purpose. Council-owned reserves are public assets and funds should be spent on maintaining or enhancing the facility.

13.6 GST

The committee, by definition under the *Local Government Act 2020* is part of Council. The Australian Tax Office has ruled that the committee cannot have a separate ABN or separate registration for GST. The committee must use Council's ABN 32 210 906 807 and charge GST when issuing tax invoices for hire or use of facilities, or for the sale of any goods or services.

Details of income, expenditure and GST collected and paid must be forwarded to Council each quarter ending September, December, March and June, as part of the quarterly financial report. This must be submitted to Council by the 7th Day following the close of the quarter to enable Council to include the details in Council return to the Tax Office.

When submitting the financial report, if the GST collected exceeds the GST paid, a cheque must be forwarded to Council with the report for the net amount. If the GST paid exceeds the GST collected, the money will be paid to the committee within 30 days of Council receiving the return.

To identify:	Calculation
GST amount	Exclusive amount x 10%, or
	Inclusive amount / 11
Inclusive amount	Exclusive amount + GST amount, or
	Exclusive amount x 110%
Exclusive amount	Inclusive amount – GST amount, or
	Inclusive amount / 1.1

GST is currently 10% and can be calculated as follows:

13.7 Contracts

Committees must not enter into any contracts above their delegated powers (as outlined in the instrument of delegation).

13.8 Receiving money

Whenever the committee receives money, a receipt should be issued. A carbon duplicate book should be used to record all receipts, unless an electronic receipt can be issued from an appropriate electronic software package that is being used by the committee. This is a practical safeguard against the possibility of error or disagreement.

There may be times when issuing individual receipts is not feasible. For example, if the committee is organising a fund-raising event or calculating entry fees, it would be impractical to write out a receipt for every person. Two members of the committee, preferably not the treasurer should be responsible for collecting and accounting the money prior to handing to the treasurer. One receipt should then be written for the total amount.

13.9 Fees

Committee's must collect user fees from all users. They must be used responsibly and:

- should be in line with similar rates in the area so that the maximum public benefit is gained for use of a public asset
- should not use the advantage of lower overheads associated with Council to the disadvantage of competing activities on private land
- should include GST

If normal rates do not seem appropriate, reasonable fees for the purpose must be set. For example, non-profit community groups may receive a discount rate. 'Similar rates' are defined as fees that are on a par with the general rates operating in your area at the time.

As part of the annual general meeting the committee must propose facility fees and submit to Council for approval and endorsement.

13.10 Cardinia Shire Council grants program

Council offers grant programs including (but not limited to) community capital works grants, community wellbeing and support grants, major equipment grants and beautification grants.

Further information and applications forms are available on Council's website at https://www.cardinia.vic.gov.au/info/20021/supporting_our_community

13.11 Paying money

Payments shall be authorised in accordance with the requirements in the Financial Controls section and should be made by either:

- cheque
- electronically through internet banking.

As each cheque is drawn or electronic payment made, the paperwork detailing the expenditure should be retained and filed in cheque number or date order. If there is no paperwork, then a cheque or payment voucher should be drawn up giving the details of the payment, i.e. payee, amount, date, cheque number and what the payment is for.

13.12 Honorariums

Community asset committees must not pay honorariums. If a minor fee is to be collected for services rendered to the community asset committee, then the person should be paid as part of the normal contract process.

Committee members may be reimbursed for out-of-pocket expenses approved by the committee but cannot receive honorariums. No member of the community asset committee should be receiving payment from the committee for their contribution to the running of the community asset committee. For example, as the secretary or treasurer.

13.13 Cash book

Electronic bookkeeping software can be used to record the committee's transactions. If recording manually, a cashbook is required.

The cashbook is the principal book of accounts. One section is for money received with varying number of columns to detail all the major areas of income. The second section is for expenditure, again with several columns to detail all the major areas of expenditure. Books with varying numbers of columns are available through newsagents or stationers. All cashbooks should now have a separate column for recording GST receipts and payments.

Money received

From the receipt book enter the details to the cashbook with the money going into the amount and detail column. For ease of balancing to your bank statement, a second amount column marked 'bank' can be kept and the total banked each day added into this column. At the end of each month add the analysis columns and balance the totals to the total banked.

Payments

As with money received, there is a bank column and several analysis columns. Enter the amount of each cheque drawn or electronic payment made in the bank column as well as in the relevant analysis column. At the end of each month, total the analysis columns and balance the totals with the bank column. The monthly totals should be added progressively month by month until after 12 months the totals are available for the yearly financial return.

13.14 Bank reconciliation

Arrange with your bank for a statement to be forwarded to the treasurer each month. Verify the entries. When submitting a bank statement to Council, the committee also needs to reconcile the closing balance from the financial report, to the closing balance on the bank statement.

Refer to Form 1 – Financial Report

13.15 Cash on premises

The committee is required to develop a cash handling procedure and ensure all users of the facility are aware of the procedure. Only communicate this process to authorised officers of the user groups and keep knowledge of the process to a minimum.

Cash must not be left on the premises.

If cash goes missing from your facility or a break-in occurs, Council must be notified within 24 hours or on the next working day. The matter must also be formally reported to Victoria Police.

13.16 Financial controls

The committee as a whole, not just the treasurer, is responsible for the financial affairs of the organisation. The committee must see monthly reports of income and expenditure and must approve of all expenses paid, or to be paid, for the month.

Authorisation

The instrument of delegation will determine authorisation limits. The committee is required to set definite limits on expenditure and on the persons authorised to purchase under the delegation limit of \$5,000.

The treasurer may be authorised by the committee to pay regular accounts or spend funds up to an agreed limit. Large expenditure should be discussed at a committee meeting and be agreed on by the majority.

Cheque signing or electronic approvals

The bank account will require two people to sign each cheque or authorise electronic payments. This should be arranged by having 3 committee members authorised with their signatures registered with the bank, with any two to sign each cheque or authorise electronic payments.

Cheques should always be crossed, marked not negotiable and the details entered before being signed.

13.17 Developing a budget

The committee should, as the year-end approaches, give serious consideration to producing a budget for the following year and present this at the AGM. This can easily be carried out by looking at the income and expenditure pattern for the current year. Add to that any extra works or services the committee would like to see in place and determine the overall estimated expenditure.

Once the expenditure is set, the committee can look at the options available to fund the expenditure. Remember, inflation will influence the cost of services and an allowance should be built into each item to cover the likely increased cost.

13.18 Water and sewerage

A committee will be invoiced for the use of any water and sewerage services for its facility this includes both service and usage charges.

13.19 Waste collection

A committee is responsible for any fees and charges related to waste collection. Please contact Council if you require any further information regarding contracts for waste collection.

14 Facility management

14.1 Power to manage a facility

The main guiding principle for managing a public facility is the use and enjoyment for all. This needs to be balanced with the need to protect and maintain the facility, its natural features, and its assets.

14.2 Allocating and controlling use

If all or part of the facility requires protection, a committee may control its use by limiting numbers and types of users, physical access, or the times and conditions of use and access. For example, a reserve for conservation purposes may need to limit public access to areas of the reserve undergoing re-vegetation. Rules (regulations) and pricing (fees) are two effective mechanisms to allocate and regulate use.

14.3 Delegation

A committee cannot delegate its powers to any other body, but it can establish sub-committees to consider certain matters. These sub-committees may be either standing committees with ongoing functions (e.g. finance sub-committee) or working groups for a task (e.g. spring planting sub-committee).

Sub-committees have no power in their own right. Their recommendations must be brought back to a full committee for consideration and resolution.

14.4 Maintaining the facility

A community asset committee is required to maintain the facility. The committee must:

- keep the facility clean
- ensure waste is disposed of appropriately
- must immediately notify Council of any maintenance issues that arise
- ensure any damage caused is repaired immediately.

As a general rule, the day-to-day operational maintenance of facilities is the responsibility of the community asset committee. Larger significant structural capital works are to be negotiated with Council.

The committee must adhere with any Council policies in regard to the ongoing maintenance of facilities.

All maintenance requests should be sent to the Council Liaison Officer. They should provide as much detail as possible, including what has happened, the location, any temporary measures that have been put in place and contact details.

Refer to Form 10 – Building maintenance and management policy

Refer to Form 11 - Maintenance and management agreement

14.5 Asset management

As part of its financial records and to ensure items are covered by Council's contents insurance, the committee must complete the asset inventory (Form 2) with all items owned by Council/Community Asset Committee to ensure the asset is placed on Council's asset register.

Refer to Form 2 – Asset inventory

Buildings and their contents owned by Council are fully insured by Council unless otherwise stated within individual usage agreements. Contents within these buildings purchased or supplied by user groups and are not considered fixtures and remain the property of the user group and are **NOT** insured by Council. Council does not insure property which is owned by others. User groups are

strongly encouraged to obtain their own contents insurance to cover any loss of equipment, cash, consumable goods, and property.

Contents that are owned by Council and included on Council's asset register are covered by insurance subject to the terms and conditions of council's insurance policy. In the event of a claim, an excess may be payable by the committee. The submission of any claim is at the absolute discretion of Council.

Contents, equipment, and goods owned by user groups or casual hirers is **NOT** covered under the Council's insurance. User groups must insure their own contents, equipment, and goods. This includes sporting equipment, trophies, artwork, bar and canteen stock, bar equipment etc.

14.6 Management documents

The management of facilities should be planned, rather than ad hoc, to help achieve the best possible outcomes. Committees are required to prepare a management plan or works schedule with a corresponding business plan or annual budget in consultation with Council, where required, so that plans remain consistent with the aims of the local community. The benefit of these documents is that they provide a context for financial expenditure to which every member has agreed, and they draw together the big picture of what the committee wants to achieve. A management plan will strengthen any application for grant funds.

Management document may include the following.

- A management plan / management statement which outlines the committee's aspirations for the use and development of the facility over its term of office. It details what the committee intends to do to maintain the facility.
- A business plan which outlines how the committee will implement its management plan. It details what actions the committee will need to take (e.g. employ staff, enter into leases or licenses, seek grant money) over its term to achieve its objectives.
- A financial plan which details the income and expenditure needed to achieve the management plan. It is often incorporated into the business plan.
- **Community consultation** to assist the committee in deciding if a community consultation process is required.

Visit <u>http://ourcommunity.com.au/</u> for templates and advice.

15 Capital works

The committee:

- must not carry out or authorise any capital works, extensions or additions which materially alter the buildings or surrounds of the facility without prior approval from Council
- is encouraged to investigate and make recommendations in writing to Council on the development of future capital works and the provision of future facilities and amenities for the facility
- must consult with organisations that use the facility as part of the development of said recommendations.

16 Facility hire and use

The committee is responsible for entering into agreements with hirers of the facilities in accordance with the conditions of hire developed by Council to ensure users of the facility comply with conditions set for the care, protection and management of the facilities set out in policies of the committee and the Council's Local Laws and policies. Committees must ensure that users of the facility make good any wilful or accidental damage caused during use.

Refer to Form 12 - Casual Hire Application (casual bookings)

Refer to Form 16 - Facility user agreement (seasonal tenants)

17 Access and inclusion

Council is committed to promoting an inclusive municipality that respects human rights and fosters participation in all aspects of community life.

Community asset committees must ensure that all community members are treated equally and feel safe to enter and/or hire the facility and participate in activities.

Council will provide community asset committees with access and inclusion awareness material to increase their understanding of broader social justice principles to utilise in their operations and facility management.

Optional disability awareness and inclusion training for community asset committees includes:

- Leisure centres: This course has been developed for those who work or volunteer at in the leisure centre industry. People who work in education, sport and recreation or in other areas may find this course useful.
- Community centres: This course has been developed for those who work or volunteer in the following areas: community centres, neighbourhood houses, Men's Shed, recreation programs. People who work in education or in other areas may find this course useful.

Visit <u>https://www.youmeus.info/</u> for online training options.

18 Insurance

Committees have a duty to ensure that claims are minimised through adequate risk management. If an incident occurs, committees must use Council's reporting procedure and email <u>claims@cardinia.vic.gov.au</u>

Council's insurance program covers community asset committees relating to:

- public liability insurance cover for injury or loss to third parties (on Council land)
- professional indemnity insurance cover for community asset committees and their volunteers (cover extends to registered volunteers and committee members when engaged in voluntary activities organised or authorised by or under the control of Council
- personal accident insurance cover, which applies to approved community asset committee activities (this excludes out of pocket medical expenses)
- asset/property cover for damage to Council managed/insured buildings (an excess applies and is payable by the community asset committee).

All policies are subject to terms and conditions including limitations of cover and exclusions for cover.

18.1 Public liability and risk management

The number and value of claims from members of the public arising from personal injury or property damage is generally increasing. Council requires community asset committees to minimise incidents through sound risk management.

Committees' responsibilities as managers of Council facilities for public liability insurance policies are to:

- avoid situations that may give rise to a claim
- control and record any incident that may lead to a claim being made (Form 14)
- prepare for a claim to be made resulting from an incident no matter how remote it may seem
- report all property damage/maintenance issues that may contribute to a claim.

In the event of any incident, committees are required to follow Council's incident and claims procedures as detailed below.

report all incidents, accidents, or property losses to Council as soon as possible (Form 14)

- all losses and claims that are not reported in a timely manner can be denied by Councils insurer
- all incidents that are potential claims need to be handled sensitively and as soon as possible after they occur
- a detailed investigation will be carried out by Council.

In all cases where a member of the public is injured or has property damaged:

- action needs to be taken to minimize the chance of any further incidents by securing unsafe areas or facilities
- first aid and medical care should be provided immediately, and prompt and proper care provided to any injured person.

Refer to Form 14 – Community asset committee incident report form

18.2 Liability claim procedures

All public liability claims must be forwarded directly to Cardinia Shire Council.

18.2.1 How and when claims are made

Community asset committees may be notified about incidents and potential claims from a variety of sources, such as direct contact from:

- the injured party or property owner or their respective agent
- police, ambulance or emergency service personnel
- media item
- legal representative or injured party of property owner
- observation of incident by committee member or staff.

Notification is usually by telephone or letter. In some instances, the first time the community asset committee becomes aware of such an incident is when legal action has already commenced.

18.2.2 What to do on notification

Contact Cardinia Shire Council, on notification in writing or verbally:

- 1. Make a note of how the letter or claim arrived by mail or hand delivered. If by hand, who delivered it?
- 2. Do not make any remarks or comments about the incident to any person who delivered the letter or claim.
- 3. Do not reply to any letter or claim.

Send the letter or claim and relevant incident report (Form 14), including names of any witnesses and any notes or photos relating to the incident to Council.

Refer to (Form 14) – Incident report

If confronted by an angry or upset person it is important not to take their comments personally and to:

- remain calm
- treat the person politely
- take notes about what they are saying
- do not admit responsibility for an incident
- ask the person to submit the claim in writing to Cardinia Shire Council
- contact Council (Form 14) and follow the course of action recommended.

It is most important that you remain calm, listen to the concerns, and treat the person politely. Assure the person that Cardinia Shire Council will contact them in relation to their claim/concerns.

18.2.3 What not to do on notification

Whether the notification is in writing or verbally, to help reduce the likelihood of unnecessary claims being made, the following should not occur.

- **Do not** admit responsibility for any incident. But do show empathy for the injured party.
- **Do not** offer to pay any medical or other expenses. But do call an ambulance if needed.
- **Do not** agree that any equipment or facilities were faulty.
- **Do not** blame other committee members, employees of other parties.
- **Do not** argue or discuss the cause of the incident with the injured person or witnesses.
- **Do not** conduct the investigation or fill out the incident report form in the presence of the injured person.
- Do not discuss the incident at any time with any person other than an officer of Council.
- **Do not** discuss the incident with the media.

18.2.4 Incident and claim report

The committee's responsibility is to provide the facts of the incident and report them to Council, **NOT** to make a decision on the validity or otherwise of the claim or potential claim. The committee should immediately seek assistance from Council by contacting 1300 787 624.

It is essential that as much information as possible is gathered as early as possible. The longer the time lapse between the incident and the investigation, the less likely it is that information will be available or accurate. It is important that a report is made of potential and notified claims because a claim may not arise until many years after an incident occurred.

18.2.5 Under no circumstances admit liability

The admission of liability can, in some circumstances, void the insurance policy. You can be empathetic with an injured person but you must be careful that any conversation is not misunderstood as an acceptance of liability.

Where an incident occurs, it should be reported immediately by telephone to Council, followed by a written report (Form 14).

18.3 After the incident

Where new information or witnesses are found (at any time after the incident), notify Council as soon as possible.

18.4 Third party users of facilities

Cardinia Shire Council's public liability insurance policy does not extend to cover or indemnify third party users of Council facilities against claims from other users of the facility. This includes casual hirers and users, long-term users, and tenants.

Individual user groups need to provide evidence to the community asset committee of appropriate public liability and participant insurance cover (where applicable).

18.5 Hire agreements and insurance

It is essential that Council and its committees are protected from the liability and negligence claims that may arise from the use of Council property.

18.5.1 Regular users

The committee is required to ensure each organisation which rents or uses the facility:

- arranges and maintains insurance policies for any contents which they store at the facility
- arranges and maintains public liability insurance policies for a minimum of \$20 million for each and every incident, and to submit a 'Certificate of currency' for each insurance policy and forward copies of all certificates to Council.

18.5.2 Casual hirers

All hirers must be the holder of a public liability insurance policy for a minimum of \$20 million for each and every incident. In some circumstances, casual hirers may obtain cover through Council for a fee. This can be used for one-off hire for certain functions.

- This cover does not extend to events where admission is charged.
- Council reserves the right to not extend cover to hirers.
- Cover is only extended when the fee has been received by Council.
- The hirer has received written acknowledgment from Council.
- Cover is granted to the hirer on the basis of the information that is provided by the hirer, should this information be found to be incorrect in the event of a claim the claim will be denied.
- Application to access this policy must be made fourteen days prior to the event.
- In the event of a claim the hirer will be required to pay the policy excess.
- The policy is subject to terms and conditions (Form 12).

Refer to Form 12 – Casual Hire Application (casual bookings)

Refer to Form 13 – Community liability insurance request form

18.6 Building (property) insurance

Report all property damage, storm, flood damage, theft or any other type of property damage to Council immediately. Council's insurer can deny claims that are not reported in a timely manner.

Council recommends that all user groups obtain their own contents insurance, as Council does not have insurance cover for these items. Community asset committees are not user groups.

In the event of a claim being made, if the committee can prove financial hardship, then Council may assist financially. If this is the case, the committee will need to write to Council, providing copies of recent financial statements, to seek reimbursement for some or all of the insurance excess.

19 Exclusions

Committees should be aware that some activities are not covered by Council's insurance. The Council Liaison Officer can assist with advice for insurance coverage and items that are excluded.

20 Risk management

A 'risk' is the chance of something occurring that has the potential to cause loss, damage or injury. 'Risk management' involves identifying risks and taking precautionary measures to minimise the chance that a particular event will occur.

Risk management is setting in place practices and processes that enable risks to be identified, minimised and dealt with. Risk management seeks to minimise the impact of undesirable events, without discouraging appropriate risk taking and initiative.

Committees are strongly urged to undertake a formal risk assessment in company with Council (Form 15), develop a risk management plan and conduct an annual review. It is better to plan for risks than to think about them after something has gone wrong.

The community asset committee is required to:

- ensure users are aware of the location of emergency exits and fire protection equipment and emergency response procedures
- advise Council immediately of an incident likely to give rise to
 - o injury to any person
 - damage to any property associated with the facilities (damage may be to the facilities or other parties).

A hazard, incident or injury report form should be used to record the details (Form 14). Refer any public liability insurance claimants directly to Council.

A safe work method statement form must be used by contractors to ensure maintenance tasks are conducted safely and with the appropriate risk control measures.

Any committees that have purchased equipment such as mowers and trimmers must ensure all that maintenance is conducted in line with the product specifications and that faults/repairs/repairer information is recorded (Form 20).

20.1 Public safety and standards

The committee must take all reasonable steps to protect the public and take reasonable care to avoid a foreseeable risk of injury to anyone lawfully entering the facility.

This section gives details of the standards that committees need to maintain to ensure potentially harmful events are minimised and that when such an event occurs, it is not because of a committee's negligence.

The aim of a public safety program is to establish procedures to prevent injury to members of the public or damage to third party property.

20.2 Maintaining public safety standards

In line with the *Building and Facilities Maintenance Policy* (Form 10) and *Management and Maintenance Responsibilities* (Form 11) committees are required to check the current safety levels and undertake any repairs and improvements as necessary to bring the facility up to the appropriate standard, and maintain that standard. Doing that requires regular inspections, a maintenance program and a system for reporting and remedying faults and defects.

20.3 Regular inspection

The purpose of regular inspections is to detect and repair faults and defects before members of the public, employees or volunteers are injured, or the faults and defects cause a more rapid depreciation of the assets and hence higher maintenance and repair costs.

Inspections should be conducted regularly using the Sporting ground inspection checklist (Form 8) and submitted to Council. The frequency of inspection will vary with the type, nature and uses of the particular facility. Records should be maintained of the facility to be inspected, including details of each inspection and:

- who undertook the inspection
- the date of inspection
- copies of the checklist
- results of the inspection and any corrective action required
- dates the corrective actions were taken and by whom.

Refer to Form 8 – Sporting ground inspection checklist

20.4 Maintenance

A well-documented, regular maintenance schedule should be kept for all facilities. All maintenance performed by committees must be conducted by a Council approved maintenance contractor.

In combination, the *Buildings and Facilities Maintenance Policy* (Form 10) and *Management and Maintenance Responsibilities* (Form 11) outline the responsibilities of Council and the community asset committee with regard to maintenance.

All facilities should be maintained in a safe condition. Failure to maintain facilities can have greater consequences than not providing them. For example, a stairway that is poorly maintained may be more dangerous than not providing access.

The community asset committee should ensure it allows for maintenance costs of facilities are allowed for in the budget and that adequate provision is made for the increased maintenance requirement as the facility ages.

20.5 Fault or defect reporting

Faults and defects will be identified as part of the regular inspections but will also be identified at other times by different people including committee members, users of the facility and the general public. They may be fixed immediately or may require action by maintenance staff or a contractor.

It is crucial for a committee to have a system to record faults and defects that are identified outside the regular inspection program and to ensure that any such faults and defects are brought to the notice of the committee. Such a system should not rely on casual contact or telephone calls but be a written record that includes details such as:

- who identified the fault and defect
- the date it was reported to the committee and to which committee or staff member
- correction action required
- dates the corrective actions were taken and by whom.

It is essential that prompt action be taken to investigate a matter and carry out the appropriate repairs. It is particularly difficult to defend a case for liability for injury when the injury has occurred to a member of the public after a specific fault or defect has been reported to a committee but has not been acted on.

20.6 When public safety standards fail

Refer to Section 18 on Insurance for detailed information on liability claim procedures and incident investigation.

20.7 Public safety in new facilities

The design and construction of new facilities must meet all current safety standards with respect to design, construction, installation and choice of materials. New facilities are an opportunity for committees to retire older equipment and facilities that generally require more onerous ongoing inspections and maintenance.

20.8 Emergency diagrams and procedures

The requirement for, or extent of, emergency procedures will obviously vary between facilities and will be based on the facility itself and the type of emergency that could arise, e.g. sports grounds, buildings.

Where facilities are provided on a leasing arrangement (e.g. sports ground facilities to sporting clubs), committee members should ensure that emergency arrangements are provided (for example an emergency management plan), such as adequate firefighting equipment, clear exits, standard exit signage, a building floor plan and fire orders in case of fire, and that the users of the facility have considered the need for an appropriate fire and evacuation drill.

Some facilities may already be identified as emergency response facilities.

20.9 Security

A committee needs to make its facility as safe as possible for all types of users. A facility may meet safety standards for its intended use but be unsafe for de facto uses that by default it attracts. For example, facilities such as car parks, footpaths, or paved areas, can become de facto skateboarding or bicycle rinks. If a person is injured undertaking such activities, even though they are (strictly speaking) trespassing, they can sue the committee if the injury has been caused by the negligence of the committee or its members or volunteers.

Similarly, a committee may unwittingly create what is known as an 'attractive nuisance'. For example, a building site or swimming pool could be considered an attraction to any children in the area. Therefore, the committee has an obligation to ensure that children and others cannot enter the site after hours and injure themselves.

Any community facility that is to be closed for a period should also be secured.

The emphasis on this type of security is not to prevent theft, but to minimise unauthorised use of a facility or area outside supervised times.

20.10 Failure to meet risk management requirements

Failure to meet the risk management requirements may result in Council taking over management of the facility, either until the issue can be resolved or on a permanent basis.

Council will make every effort to assist the committee in achieving the requirements before these outcomes take place.

21 Event management

Community Asset Committees are not permitted to hold events. If a user group plans to hold an event, they will be required to seek both Community Asset Committee and Council approval. This can be done by submitting an Event Application (Form 9) to Council who will determine whether any permits or requirements are needed such as:

- Local Laws road closures, traffic management, permission for public land access, alcohol consumption
- **Planning** permits to hold an event on private land
- Environmental health temporary food permits
- Building permits for temporary structures such as fencing, stages and marquees
- Engineering waste management
- Maintenance servicing of public toilets
- Risk and safety or insurance public liability insurance, event management plan, risk assessment.

Contact Council to discuss events as early as possible. A failure to allow enough time to obtain any necessary information or permits prior to your event may result in your event not being approved. A minimum of 4 weeks' notice is required.

Refer to Form 9 – Event Application for Recreation Reserve

22 Volunteers

Volunteers and voluntary groups are an invaluable resource to Council and our community, making a significant contribution to community life. Volunteers contribute to a range of activities including social community support, emergency services and environmental protection. Through their commitment and energy, volunteers can enhance the political, social, economic, environmental and cultural life and enrich the fabric of our local community.

The community asset committee must make sure that volunteers are provided with an induction and that they sign in on the day through the volunteer attendance sheet (Form 18). All records need to be provided to Council. The following points and procedures are in place to ensure that the committee, Council, the community, and the volunteers all gain from the experience.

Volunteers need to be provided with an induction which includes:

- Clear statement (to be completed by the committee) of the tasks associated with the volunteer position (Form 24).
- Volunteer information sheet (Form 17).
- Explanation of their rights and responsibilities, and Council's obligations to them (Form 24).
- Demonstration and if required training in the key tasks and activities.
- Explanation of any OHS procedures related to the activity (OH&S Policy).
- Explanation of the volunteer code of conduct (Code of Conduct).

Summary of documents to provide volunteers in induction:

- Volunteer Position Description (Form 24).
- Community Asset Committee Governance Manual.
- Volunteer information sheet (Form 17).
- Occupational Health and Safety Policy.
- Code of Conduct.

Things to remember when engaging volunteers:

- All volunteers **MUST** have a nominated Volunteer Supervisor (nominated by the Committee)
- Volunteers must sign in on the day through the volunteer attendance sheet (Form 18)
- A risk assessment (Form 15) of any volunteer activity needs to be undertaken prior to a oneoff activity, or on a regular basis for ongoing volunteer programs
- The committee's volunteer supervisor must organise and sign off the risk assessment of the volunteer activity
- Where possible, the committee should provide training to ensure safe and effective practices as well as a means of support and recognition for volunteers and to provide opportunities for their personal development
- Volunteers are owed a statutory duty of care under the OH&S Act 2004
- Engaging volunteers to assist Cardinia Shire Council and community asset committees will be done in a manner that complies with all relevant Council policies and associated legislation
- Recruiting volunteers should be on the basis that volunteers can be provided with satisfying and suitable activities and functions, with due consideration being given to the personal preference and motivation of the volunteer
- Volunteers will be selected in a non-discriminatory process consistent with EEO and related legislation
- All volunteers are required to hold a valid *Working With Children Check* and may be required to undertake other screening prior to appointment
- Council reserves the right of refusal and only those volunteers considered most suitable to take on the role available at the time will be placed
- New volunteers will meet their volunteer supervisor who will provide volunteers with their contact details
- In instances of misconduct or breaches to the volunteer responsibilities, the volunteer supervisor has the right to dismiss the volunteer. The reasons for termination will be provided to the volunteer
- Volunteers are required to declare anything that may prevent them from fulfilling their volunteer duties (e.g. loss of license). The record of reasons for termination will be filed on the relevant corporate file and recorded in the database
- Volunteers must be kept safe at all times when undertaking activities for the Committee.

Things to remember regarding insurance:

- All volunteers must complete a registration form and provide proof of identity, to ensure they are covered by Council insurance (Form 17)
- The volunteer supervisor is responsible for ensuring the volunteer registration forms are collected and provided to Council
- All registered volunteers will be covered by Council personal accident insurance. Volunteers must be a minimum of 16 years old and under 90 years of age to be covered by insurance
- Volunteers' personal property is not covered by Council insurance
- Volunteers under the age of 18 require additional permissions from parent/guardians to meet requirements for duty of care
- Volunteers driving vehicles will need to provide a copy of their drivers' license and a copy of comprehensive insurance if driving private vehicles.

23 Contractor Management

Things to remember when engaging contractors:

- All maintenance performed by committees must be conducted by a Council approved maintenance contractor.
- Council will supply Committees with an 'Approved Contractors List' on a monthly basis. If you would like to use any contractors not on this list, they will need to become Council approved.
- Any contractor can become Council approved by completing the New Supplier Details Form, OH&S Questionnaire (Form 21 & 22) and supporting documentation (e.g., insurance).
- If you need further information about the requirements of engaging a contractor or the requirements of the contractor themselves, please contact the Council liaison officer.

Once an approved contractor is engaged, the committee must provide an onsite induction to help the contractor familiarise themselves with the site and Council's policies. This induction must be performed by an approved inductor that has completed construction induction training (white card). If the committee does not have access to an approved inductor, they can engage a Council liaison officer to provide the onsite induction. The inductor must complete the Contractor Induction Checklist (Form 23). Records of induction should be maintained and provided to Council. Inductions only need to be performed once, but the committee must ensure contractors continue to adhere to the Induction Checklist and Council policies at all times.

Refer to Form 21 – New Supplier Details Form

Refer to Form 22 - OH&S Questionnaire

Refer to Form 23 – Contractor Induction Checklist

24 Health regulations

All food businesses must be registered as per the *Food Act* 1984. This is particularly relevant to a canteen at a recreation reserve that is selling food.

For any further information on any matters included in this manual please contact: Cardinia Shire Council Manager Governance Phone: 1300 787 624 mail@cardinia.vic.gov.au



Cardinia Shire Council Civic Centre 20 Siding Avenue, Officer

PO Box 7 Pakenham 3810 (DX 81006 Pakenham)

Phone: 1300 787 624 Email: mail@cardinia.vic.gov.au Web: www.cardinia.vic.gov.au

National Relay Service (NRS) TTY: 133 677 (ask for 1300 787 624) Speak and Listen (speech-to-speech relay): 1300 555 727 (ask for 1300 787 624)

Translator Interpretation Service 131 450 (ask for 1300 787 624)

